
 
 

 

Queries about the agenda?  Need a different format? 
 

Contact Sue Lewis – Tel: 01303 853265 
Email: committee@folkestone-hythe.gov.uk or download from our 

website 
www.folkestone-hythe.gov.uk 

 

Date of Publication:  Monday, 16 September 2019 

 

Agenda 
 

Meeting: Planning and Licensing Committee 

Date: 24 September 2019 

Time: 7.00 pm 

Place: Council Chamber - Civic Centre, Folkestone 

  

To: All members of the Planning and Licensing Committee 
 
 

 The committee will consider the matters, listed below, at the date, time and 
place shown above.  The meeting will be open to the press and public. 
 
Members of the committee, who wish to have information on any matter 
arising on the agenda, which is not fully covered in these papers, are 
requested to give notice, prior to the meeting, to the Chairman or 
appropriate officer. 
 
This meeting will be webcast live to the council’s website at 
https://folkestone-hythe.public-i.tv/core/portal/home. 
 
Although unlikely, no guarantee can be made that Members of the public in 
attendance will not appear in the webcast footage. It is therefore 
recommended that anyone with an objection to being filmed does not enter 
the council chamber. 
 
 

 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence  
 

2.   Declarations of Interest  
 

 Members of the committee should declare any interests which fall under 
the following categories*: 
 
a) disclosable pecuniary interests (DPI); 
b) other significant interests (OSI); 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

http://www.folkestone-hythe.gov.uk/
https://folkestone-hythe.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


Planning and Licensing Committee - 24 September 2019 

c) voluntary announcements of other interests. 
 

3.   Minutes (Pages 3 - 6) 
 

 To consider and approve, as a correct record, the minutes of the meeting 
held on the 27 August 2019.   
 

4.   Y18/1617/FH - Three Hills Sports Park, Cheriton Road, Folkestone 
(Pages 7 - 30) 
 

 DCL/19/14 Installation of athletic running track and field events sports 
facility, pavilion and associated parking together with the relocation of dog 
walking facililty. 
 

5.   Y18/0984/FH - Running Waters, Lydd Road, New Romney, Romney 
Marsh (Pages 31 - 52) 
 

 Report DCL/19/15 Change of use from an existing touring and camping 
caravan park to use for ten mobile chalets and twenty tourers (part of the 
site previously approved under application Y09/0456/SH). 
 

6.   Supplementary Information (Pages 53 - 54) 
 

 
 
 

Page 2



 

 
 

The webcast for this meeting is available at  
https://folkestone-hythe.public-i.tv/core/portal/home 

 

 
 

Minutes 
 

 

Planning and Licensing Committee 
 
Held at: Council Chamber - Civic Centre, Folkestone 
  
Date Tuesday, 27 August 2019 
  
Present Councillors Danny Brook, John Collier, Clive Goddard 

(Chairman), Mrs Jennifer Hollingsbee, Jim Martin, 
Connor McConville, Jackie Meade, Terence Mullard (In 
place of Ian Meyers), Georgina Treloar and David Wimble 

  
Apologies for Absence Councillor Gary Fuller, Councillor Philip Martin and 

Councillor Ian Meyers 
  
Officers Present:  David Campbell (Development Management Team 

Leader), Claire Dethier (Development Management Team 
Leader), Sue Lewis (Committee Services Officer) and 
Lisette Patching (Development Management Manager) 

  
Others Present:  

 
 
 

19. Declarations of Interest 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

20. Minutes 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 23 July 2019 were submitted, approved and 
signed by the Chairman. 
 

21. Y19/0231/FH - 20 Encombe, Sandgate, Folkestone, Kent, CT20 3DE 
 
Erection of a three storey block of five (two-bedroom) apartments following 
the demolition of No. 20 Encombe with associated parking and 
landscaping. 
 
Darin Marwood, local resident, spoke on the application. 
Alistair Hume, applicant’s agent, spoke of the application. 
 
Proposed by Councillor Mrs Jenny Hollingsbee 
Seconded by Councillor Jackie Meade and 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3

https://folkestone-hythe.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


Planning and Licensing Committee - 27 August 2019 
 
 

 
 

2 
 

 
Resolved: That planning permission be granted subject to the conditions 
set out at the end of the addendum report with the inclusion of an 
additional condition requiring the first and second floor windows in the 
side elevation facing 21 Encombe to be obscurely glazed; and that 
delegated authority given to the Chief Planning Officer to agree and 
finalise the wording of the conditions and add any other conditions that 
he considers necessary. 
 
(Voting: For 9; Against 0; Abstentions 1) 
 

22. Y18/1404/FH - Land adjoining Hope All Saints Garden Centre, Ashford 
Road, New Romney, Kent 
 
Outline planning application for the erection of up to 117 dwellings with 
public open space, landscaping and sustainable urban drainage system 
(SuDS) and vehicular access point from Ashford Road. All matters 
reserved except for means of access. 
 
Neil Lewis, applicant spoke on the application. 
 
Proposed by Councillor Mrs Jenny Hollingsbee 
Seconded by Councillor Clive Goddard and 
 
Resolved: That planning permission be granted subject to the 
conditions set out at the end of the report and a S106 agreement 
providing 30% affordable housing, High Street improvements (to public 
realm) High Street/ Station Road improvement works (highway 
improvements), healthcare contributions, open space contributions 
(improvements to playing field), transfer of public open space to a 
management company, KCC contributions relating to primary education, 
community learning, library bookstock, social care, TRO application fee 
for application to improve highway capacity and safety improvements, 
travel plan and cycle improvements; and that delegated authority given to 
the Chief Planning Officer to agree and finalise the wording of the 
conditions and the legal agreement and add any other conditions that he 
considers necessary. 
 
(Voting: For 8; Against 1; Abstentions 1) 
 

23. Y18/1419/FH - Land adjoining 22 Pearmain Way, New Romney 
 
Outline planning application for engineering operations to provide vehicular 
and pedestrian connectivity. All matters reserved except for means of 
access. 
 
Members were informed that Sport England should have been consulted with 
regard to the loss of part of the playing field but, due to an error, had not been. 
However, they had objected to the previous application and it was likely, 

Page 4



Planning and Licensing Committee - 27 August 2019 
 
 

 
 

3 
 

therefore, that they would object to this one also. It was requested that should 
Members resolve to grant planning permission, delegated authority be given to 
the Chief Planning Officer to grant planning permission following notification to 
Sport England of the Committee resolution and subsequent referral to the 
Secretary of State if required. 
 
Proposed by Councillor David Wimble 
Seconded by Councillor Clive Goddard and 
 
Resolved: That delegated authority be given to the Chief Planning Officer 
to grant planning permission subject to the conditions set out at the end 
of the report and to agree and finalise the wording of the conditions and 
add any other conditions that he considers necessary, following 
notification to Sport England of the Committee resolution and subsequent 
referral to the Secretary of State if required. 
 
(Voting: For 10; Against 0; Abstentions 0) 
 

24. Y18/1536/FH - 2 Chislett Close, Sellindge, Ashford, Kent, TN25 6HW 
 
Erection of a chalet bungalow. 
 
Proposed by Councillor Mrs Jenny Hollingsbee 
Seconded by Councillor John Collier and 
 
Resolved: That planning permission be granted subject to the 
conditions set out at the end of the report and that delegated authority be 
given to the Chief Planning Officer to agree and finalise the wording of the 
conditions and add any other conditions that he considers necessary. 
 
(Voting: For 10; Against 0; Abstentions 0) 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



DCL/19/14 
Application No: Y18/1617/FH 
   
Location of Site: Three Hills Sports Park, Cheriton Road, Folkestone 
  
Development: Installation of athletics running track and field events 

sports facility, pavilion and associated parking 
together with the relocation of dog walking facility. 

 
Applicant: Folkestone Running Club 

 
 

Agent: Guy Hollaway Architects 
 The Tramway Stables 
 Rampart Road 
 Hythe 

 
Date Valid: 24.12.18 
 
Expiry Date: 25.03.19   
 
PEA Date:  27.09.19 
 
Date of Committee:  24.09.19 
 
Officer Contact:    Louise Daniels 
 
SUMMARY 
 
The report recommends that planning permission be granted for the construction of 
a sporting facility, which would contribute to the health and well-being of the local 
community, without detriment to the visual amenity of the area, the residential 
amenity of nearby properties, ecology, increased flooding/surface water flooding or 
compromise to highway safety. 
 

RECOMMENDATION: That planning permission be granted subject to the 
conditions set out at the end of the report and that delegated authority be 
given to the Chief Planning Officer to agree and finalise the wording of the 
conditions and add any other conditions that he considers necessary. 

  
1.0 THE PROPOSAL 
 
1.1 This application seeks full planning permission for the construction of an 

athletics running track with a central field events sports facility.  The total site 
area would comprise an area of 20,690sqm.   
 

1.2 The layout of the running track and field events has been informed by the 
design guidance from the International Association of Athletics Federations 
(IAAF) and UK Athletics, and in conjunction with the Folkestone Running Club 
and Three Hills Sports Park.  The 400m running track would accommodate 8 
running lanes, with two 100m straights and the surface would be a red rubber 
finish with a grass centre.  
 

1.3 The field events that could be located within the running track include: 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



DCL/19/14 
 

- 2 x pole vaults 
- 2 x javelin 
- Water jump 
- 2 x shot put  
- 2 high jumps 
- Discus and hammer throw 
- A double ended triple and long jump to the south of the running track 

 
1.4 The facility would be provided as part of the wider Three Hills Sports Park 

facility, an important and well used community facility, which promotes sport 
excellence and health benefits to users of all ages. A pedestrian footpath 
would link the track to the existing Three Hills facility. 
 

1.5 To the south of the running track, a new pavilion is proposed. The pavilion 
would be constructed from two converted 40ft shipping containers and would 
house changing facilities, WCs and a café/kitchenette.  The pavilion would be 
clad with diagonal larch timber on all elevations, including the doors.  The 
pavilion would be 2.6m to the highest point. This includes a minor (20cm) 
increase in height secured by officers to reduce the likelihood of people 
climbing onto the roof of the containers in the interests of safety and security.  
The site is secured by a 2.3m green welded mesh fence which surrounds the 
site and connects to the eastern and western ends of the pavilion. 

 
1.6 One of the containers (the eastern container) would have a large sliding 

glazed doors which would face out onto the running track and would be 9.4m 
in width.  The pavilion’s glazed doors would be secured when not in use by a 
sliding timber security shutter.  
 

1.7 To the rear of the containers hedging is proposed and matching larch fencing 
joining the two containers together to provide security.   
 

1.8 To the north of the pavilion would be 156 spectator seating constructed in 
concrete and incorporated into an existing embankment, utilising the level 
changes.  The pavilion’s position at the top of the bank would provide views 
across the track, field and finishing line.  

 
1.9 The pavilion would have an accessible WC accessed via an external door, 

allowing athletes and spectators to utilise the facility.  Both pavilion containers 
would have level access.  A sloped access from the lower level of the track 
up to the pavilion and beyond to Three Hills would be located to the east of 
the pavilion.  Stepped access between the track and pavilion would be 
incorporated into the spectator seating.  A secondary set of steps is proposed 
to the western end of the existing slope, which would connect the west end of 
the lower site (outside of the track area) to the main part of Three Hills.  
 

1.10 An additional container would be used as a storage unit and located to the 
north-west area of the site for the storage of athletic apparatus.   
 

1.11 Please see Figure 1 for an plan of the layout. 

Page 8



DCL/19/14 

 
(Figure 1) 

 
1.12 As seen in Figure 1, the associated parking to serve the athletics facility would 

be located to the east of the track and would be accessed via an existing 
vehicular access on Cornwallis Avenue.  An overspill parking area is also 
proposed which would be used for summer athletics events.  A total of 43 car 
parking spaces are proposed for day to day use by the stadium, 3 of which 
would be accessible parking spaces.  An existing bus stand demarcated on 
Cornwallis Avenue is proposed to be used as a drop off location for coaches 
that may visit the proposed track for competition events 

 
1.13 To facilitate the proposals, the existing dog walking facility located on the site 

would be re-located to the western part of the existing Three Hill Sports Park, 
on a comparative area of land of 6400sqm.  Fencing would separate the dog 
walking area from the Three Hills Sports Park with gates either end of the dog 
walking facility to allow for access.  The area would be bordered by fences to 
the rear residential gardens on Cherry Garden Avenue. 

 
1.14 Dog walkers and pedestrians walking through the site would gain access 

through the site via a number of gates: 
 

 Via the existing gate from the end of Fairway Avenue 

 Via the existing gate on Cornwallis Avenue 

 Via the existing access on Cherry Garden Avenue 
 
1.15 The footpath to the north of the site connecting Cornwallis Avenue and 

Fairway Avenue would be retained.  Some of the trees adjacent to this 
footpath would need to be removed to facilitate re-grading to accommodate 
the running track with replacement planting proposed along this boundary. 
 

1.16 The submitted Supporting Statement sets out that the proposed athletics 
facility is the culmination of over ten years’ work to develop the Three Hills 
site into a centre of excellence for sport between the Roger De Haan 
Charitable Trust (RDHCT), the Cheriton Road Sports Ground Trust (CRSGT) 
and Folkestone and Hythe District Council. 

Page 9



DCL/19/14 
 

1.17 The Supporting Statement further states that “The Shepway Sports Trust 
(SST) is a not-for-profit sports charity that was set up in 2013 by the RDHCT 
with an objective to increase opportunities for everyone in the District to 
participate in sport and lead healthy and active lifestyles.  The Trust now 
works with hundreds of partners across schools, including a school charter, 
community groups and clubs.  The trust operate from the existing Three Hills 
Sports Park facility and would work closely with the running and athletics club 
to develop and introduce all local schools and organisations through their 
partnership agreement to the track and utilise the opportunities it provides for 
the District”. 
 

1.18 The submitted Supporting Statement sets out the following in regards to the 
Folkestone Running Club which is important to note in full: 

 
“Whilst the proposed track will not be limited only to the use of Folkestone 
Running Club, the Club are very supportive of investment in athletics facilities 
and acknowledge that this would provide significant benefits for the district.  
The club has a membership of over 300 athletes (125 seniors and 175 juniors) 
with a waiting list of juniors who the club are unable to take on due to the lack 
of facilities available.  In the winter months, for health and safety purposes, 
the junior section utilise the indoor sports hall at The Three Hills Sports Park 
and during summer use the outfield of one existing cricket pitches.  Training 
sessions for the senior section of the club comprise a mix of road running and 
speed sessions around the boundary of the cricket pitch, although this can 
become particularly difficult during winter months when the cricket pitch 
becomes waterlogged and due to the lack of artificial lighting. 
 
As a result, the Folkestone Running Club faces the following limitations: 
 

 Inability to offer field events or track training resulting in the loss of athletes 
to other districts; 
 

 Junior athletics Sports Hall sessions take place two to three evenings a 
week in the sports hall at the Three Hills Sports Park. Due to the size 
restrictions of the hall and the number of clubs wishing to use the sports 
hall, this limits membership numbers. This is made worse by the fact that 
junior members are unable to join the senior section for safety reasons; 
 

 During the winter months training sessions for seniors are dependent on 
weather conditions. During heavy rainfall, the boundary of the cricket pitch 
which is used as an ‘informal’ track, becomes unusable for speed 
sessions.  This is in addition to the lack of artificial lighting which can pose 
health and safety concerns for runners. 

 
The provision of the proposed athletics facility would enable the club to train 
on a year-round basis in a safe and controlled environment. This is in addition 
to the obvious benefits the development would bring in terms of track and 
field facilities and the opportunity to host athletics events for schools, local 
clubs and clubs further afield. 
 

Page 10



DCL/19/14 
In this respect, it is highlighted that the club have already undertaken a 
number of training programmes in order to ‘upskill’ their volunteers and 
coaches and provide multi-disciplinary coaches, timekeepers and judges in 
preparation for the new facility. 

 
1.19 The application is accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA), Noise 

Impact Assessment, Archaeological Desk Based Assessment, LED Sports 
Floodlighting Calculations, non-technical Lighting Summary, Transport 
Statement, Design and Access Statement, Athletic Track Background to 
Project Statement and a Supporting Statement.  

 
2.0 SITE DESIGNATIONS 
 
2.1 The following apply to the site: 
 

 Inside settlement boundary 

 Flood risk zone 3 

 Public bridleway to the north 

 Within an area of archaeological potential 

 Outdoor Sports facilities area within the Council’s Open Space Audit 
 
3.0 LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION OF SITE 
 
3.1   The application site (Figure 2) is located to the northern part of land connected 

to the Three Hills Sports Park.  The site is grassed and is currently part used 
as a dog walking facility (6400sqm) and also a playing field of 19630sqm with 
an area used for football practice.  The site is largely flat with a level change 
of approximately 2.5m high to the south of the site leading towards the Three 
Hills Sports Pavilion.   

 
3.2 Cornwallis Avenue borders the site to the east, a public bridleway with 

residential dwellings behind borders the site to the north which is higher than 
the dog walking facility and the grass pitches with a steep bank between with 
a tree line.  To the west are the residential dwellings of Fairway Avenue. 

 
3.3 The Pent Stream runs to the west and east of the site and is culverted beneath 

the application site. 
 

Page 11



DCL/19/14 

 

 (Figure 2) 

 

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
4.1 The Three Hills sports pavilion and sports hall was approved in 2010 under 

reference Y10/0075/SH together with the reconfiguration of the car park 
following removal of the existing cricket pavilion, construction of 2 all-terrain 
pitches (ATP), 2 outdoor netball courts and 1 Multi Use Games Area (MUGA), 
refurbishment of cricket stands, construction of cricket nets and other 
associated operational development, landscaping and external works.   

 
4.2 A number of planning applications followed the 2010 application and were 

approved: 
 

 Y12/0201/SH Erection of building to provide an equipment storage facility 
for Cheriton Road Sports Ground and an Ambulance Community 
Response Post. 
 

 Y13/1006/SH Construction of a new external Artificial Turf Pitch (ATP) 
with perimeter ball-stop fencing and floodlighting, together with access 
and outdoor storage for maintenance equipment. 
 

 Y16/0346/SH Enclosure of part of the existing south balcony to the main 
pavilion to form an extended seating areas to the members bar and the 
provision of a single-storey lean-to storage extension to the north side of 
the sports hall. 

 

 Y17/1379/SH - Erection of spectator stands. 
  

Page 12

http://intranet.shepway.gov.uk:70/planning-building-control-history/index.php?dc=Y10/0075/SH
http://intranet.shepway.gov.uk:70/planning-building-control-history/index.php?dc=Y12/0201/SH
http://intranet.shepway.gov.uk:70/planning-building-control-history/index.php?dc=Y13/1006/SH
http://intranet.shepway.gov.uk:70/planning-building-control-history/index.php?dc=Y16/0346/SH


DCL/19/14 
 
 
5.0 CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
5.1 Consultation responses are available in full on the planning file on the 

Council’s website: 
 http://beta.folkestone-

hythe.gov.uk/lg/dialog.page?org.apache.shale.dialog.DIALOG_NAME=gfpla
nningsearch&Param=lg.Planning&ref_no=Y18/1617/FH&viewdocs=true.   

 
 Responses are summarised below. 
 
5.2  Folkestone Town Council 
 Comments dated 14.02.19  
 Support provided flood lights are adequately screened from William Avenue. 
 
 Comments dated 18.07.19. 
 Previously supported as members did not feel they could oppose a new facility 

that improved sporting opportunities so much for Folkestone people however, 
local councillors were concerned about the 8 floodlights that would bound the 
new track regarding their brightness/diffusion and times of illumination, the 
sound systems, covering up of the Pent Stream, loss of football pitches, and 
tree removal stating that any tree replanting must be as mature as possible in 
view of the proposed new fencing and floodlighting.  

 
 Comments dated 29.08.19 

Support as a valuable facility, provided flood lights are adequately screened 
from William Avenue direction and there is a planning condition to guarantee 
a 9pm switch off of flood lights and public address system.  The committee 
has been assured that the latest floodlight technology will be used: OptiVision 
LED floodlights. 

 
5.3 Sport England 

 Comments dated 15.03.19 
Object.  The proposal prejudices the use, or leads to the loss of use, of land 
being used as a playing field or has been used as a playing field in the last five 
years.  The proposal would involve the loss of two existing grass football 
pitches. 
 
Kent FR & Football Foundation, on behalf of the FA object to the loss of the 2 
existing grass pitches, but the existing 3G should be able to host mini-soccer 
fixtures, in line with the usage programme submitted to Football Foundation 
when the 3G was funded.  Unless the applicant can demonstrate the need for 
the additional mini-soccer pitches and that the existing grass pitches are 
surplus to requirements and also show how the existing youth/adult teams can 
be accommodated on the 3G at an agreeable pricing policy, we cannot support 
this application. 
 
Sport England therefore objects as the application is not considered to accord 
with any of the exceptions to Sport England’s Playing Fields Policy or with 
Paragraph 97 of the NPPF 

Page 13

http://beta.folkestone-hythe.gov.uk/lg/dialog.page?org.apache.shale.dialog.DIALOG_NAME=gfplanningsearch&Param=lg.Planning&ref_no=Y18/1617/FH&viewdocs=true
http://beta.folkestone-hythe.gov.uk/lg/dialog.page?org.apache.shale.dialog.DIALOG_NAME=gfplanningsearch&Param=lg.Planning&ref_no=Y18/1617/FH&viewdocs=true
http://beta.folkestone-hythe.gov.uk/lg/dialog.page?org.apache.shale.dialog.DIALOG_NAME=gfplanningsearch&Param=lg.Planning&ref_no=Y18/1617/FH&viewdocs=true


DCL/19/14 
 
 Comments dated 02.08.19 

Since the statutory objection on 15.03.19, detailed discussions with England 
Athletics and the applicants have taken place.  Whilst there is still some work 
to be done with the applicants and England Athletics, Sport England are 
confident on the financial sustainability of the project.  Regarding the loss of 
the football pitches, the applicants are working with the County FA and the 
team which is impacted to relocate them to another site.  This would have 
been easier if the Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) was up to date however Sport 
England are confident that a suitable solution will be found.  If this work had 
been done, Sport England would have been in a position to withdraw its 
objection and confirm the application met its E5 planning policy exception and 
the NPPF paragraph 97.  However, as this time Sport England unfortunately 
has to maintain a technical objection to this application despite its obvious 
merits and benefits to the local residents of Folkestone.   

 
 Comments dated 09.09.19 

Withdraws objection and supports application.  A site has been put forward as 
an alternative site for Folkestone Invicta Youth FC to use - Morehall Recreation 
ground located a 5 minute-walk/350m to the west from Three Hills Sports Park 
(THSP) across Cherry Garden Avenue.  This site contains 2 kick around areas 
and was not included in the Playing Pitch Strategy as being used by the 
community and therefore was not counted in the overall supply figures. The 
current area where the goal posts are located is in poor condition and would 
need to be improved before Folkestone Invicta Youth FC could play on it in 
their league games.   
 
Regarding facilities, such as changing, the distance from the pitches from the 
existing changing accommodation at Three Hills is no greater than at a number 
of sites around the country.  Emerging guidance from the FA for recreational 
football is going to suggest the minimum requirement for some sites, parks, 
and recreation grounds will be the provision of toilets. 
 
The applicants have appraised the site as to what would be needed to bring 
the site up to standard for league games.  They have also met with Andy 
Blaszkowicz, Assistant Director - Environment & Corporate Assets of 
FHDC.  In an email dated 28th August 2019, he states that subject to the 
Folkestone Parks and Pleasure Grounds charity (the owners of the site) 
granting their consent, he sees no reason for the recreation ground to have 
the required improvements and toilet provision.  These would be provided by 
the applicant.   
 
As such, Sport England considers that the proposal broadly meets Sport 
England’s planning expectation policies E4 and E5 and now wishes to register 
support for the application subject to a planning condition to ensure the two 
pitches at Morehall Recreation Ground are delivered. 

 
5.4 Environment Agency 
 Comments 24.04.19 
 Object as the proposal fails the second part of the flood risk exception test as 

it may increase flood risk elsewhere and building over the existing culvert 

Page 14



DCL/19/14 
because of health and safety considerations, increased maintenance costs 
and because this would preclude future options to restore the watercourse 
and create floodplain storage. 

 
 Comments 27.06.19 
 No objection subject to conditions requiring site levelling to be carried out in 

accordance with cross sections by Herrington Consulting Ltd and a pre-
commencement and post-completion survey of the culvert beneath the 
development with any defects being identified and repaired to the EA 
satisfaction. 

 
5.5 Southern Water 
 Comments dated 11.02.19 

 The development lies over or within a clearance distance of the public critical 
combined and surface water sewer, which is not acceptable.  If the application 
is approved, the applicant should produce a suitable layout maintaining the 
statutory clearance distance for public sewers (5m either side of the centreline 
of the public combined trunk sewer). 

 
 Comments dated 11.04.19 

 Development would be acceptable providing the application enters into a 
sewer protection agreement and also provides unimpeded access to the 
critical sewers/manholes crossing the site as well as access to the 20m deep 
manhole chamber located in the proposed carpark. 

 
5.6 KCC Flood and Water Management 
 Comments dated 11.04.19 

 It should be ensured that any infiltration only occurs within uncontaminated 
natural ground as part of detailed design.  It should be noted that a culverted 
main river crosses the site, the EA should be consulted regarding the 
acceptability of the development over this culvert. 

 
Any work in, under, over or within 8m of the banks of a designated main river 
or the toe of a flood defence requires a Flood Risk Activity Permit (FRAP).  If 
permission is granted, recommend conditions for a sustainable surface water 
drainage scheme and a verification report to be submitted to the LPA. 

 
5.7 KCC Highways and Transportation 

Comments dated 23.01.19 
No objection subject to conditions.  A total of 43 car parking spaces are 
proposed for day to day use by the stadium.  This far exceeds the required 
number of parking spaces required under SPG4: Kent Parking Standards, of 
which the requirement is 1 space per 10 seats.  123 overspill parking spaces 
are provided for competitions in the summer when teams from local athletic 
clubs will come to compete at the running track.  There is no set standard for 
these events but the number of parking spaces provided is similar to the next 
nearest athletics stadium, which is the Julie Rose Stadium in Ashford.  6 cycle 
parking spaces are proposed to encourage participants to access the site via 
bicycle.   
 

Page 15



DCL/19/14 
The proposed access provides more than adequate visibility splays for the 
30mph speed limit on Cornwallis Avenue.   
 
A coach stand is available on Cornwallis Avenue in which coaches can wait 
whilst participants are competing at the running track.  This provides spaces 
for 2 coaches to be parked. 
 
No objection subject to conditions requiring a construction management plan 
and measures to prevent the discharge of surface water from the access onto 
the public highway to be submitted to the LPA, and conditions to ensure the 
vehicle and motorcycle parking spaces, electric charging bays and turning 
space, 6 covered cycle parking spaces, completion and maintenance of 
access and visibility splays are provided. 

 
5.8 KCC Ecology 

Comments dated 10.04.19 
No objection subject to conditions requiring a method statement and a lighting 
design strategy for biodiversity to be submitted to the LPA.  
 
The site appears to be regularly mown grassland, which provide limited 
foraging/resting habitat for protected/notable species.  As such, there is no 
requirement for an ecological scoping survey to be carried out but recommend 
that a precautionary mitigation approach is carried out to minimise the 
potential for the works to result in the killing/injuring or protected/notable 
species. 
 

5.9 Environmental Health 
Comments dated 13.06.19 
No objection.  Environmental Health accepts the findings of the noise impact 
assessment dated March 2019.   However, section 5.3 should be highlighted, 
where consideration is given in terms of the selection of both the portable PA 
system and the electronic starter pistol system to be used on site. 
 
Environmental Health accepts the findings of the LED sports floodlighting 
report. External lighting must be automatically turned off by 21:15hrs with one 
off events restricted to 3 events a year unless written consent is given by the 
LPA.   
 
Any new lighting installation must confirm with the Institution of lightning 
Engineers – Guidance notes for reduction of obtrusive light as instructed within 
the non-technical summary of proposed sports lighting.  All mitigation within 
this report must also be adopted.  
 

5.10 Arboricultural Manager 
No objection. 

 
6.0 PUBLICITY 
 
6.1 78 neighbours notified by letter.  Expiry date 29.08.19 
  
6.2 Site Notice.  Expiry date 04.03.19 

Page 16



DCL/19/14 
 
6.3 Press Notice.  Expiry date 21.02.19 
 
7.0 REPRESENTATIONS 
 
7.1 Representation responses are available in full on the planning file on the 

Council’s website http://beta.folkestone-
hythe.gov.uk/lg/dialog.page?org.apache.shale.dialog.DIALOG_NAME=gfpla
nningsearch&Param=lg.Planning&ref_no=Y18/1617/FH&viewdocs=true.  
Responses are summarised below. 

 
 Objections 
7.2 21 letters/emails received objecting on the following grounds: 
 

 Loss of football pitches with no replacement provided. 

 Noise impacts and loss of privacy to neighbouring residents from the 
loud-speakers and spectator stands.  

 The long hours of use proposed would cause disruption to neighbouring 
residents and should be reduced. 

 The lighting report shows light spillage onto the neighbouring properties 
which would have a detrimental impact upon amenity and on biodiversity. 

 The dog walking facility is used by many people and noise does not 
currently disturb neighbouring properties due to the location whereas the 
new location will require people to walk across playing pitches and 
informal recreation space or past neighbouring properties to access the 
new location. 

 Some people may stop using the dog walking facility as it will be less 
conveniently located and further away with no footpaths proposed 
between Fairway Avenue and the dog run, limiting access for disabled 
people. 

 New dog walking facility would have no shade and poor access from 
Cherry Garden Avenue with a lack of parking, leading to highway 
impacts. 

 New boundary fence, which will be required to prevent damage to 
property, will create a catchment area for rubbish and litter. 

 Other areas within the district are starved of meaningful sport provision. 

 The Julie Rose Stadium is not too far away to travel to, 30 minutes drive 
from Folkestone and Dover and has spare capacity. 

 Impact of development in a flood zone and sequential test should be 
carried out. 

 Removal of trees to the north is unacceptable and the replacement slow 
growing, deciduous, Acer Maple trees do not cover the loss of the existing 
trees. 

 Recreation space will be lost to the benefit of a few athletes who do not 
live in the vicinity. 

 Security fencing will be unattractive. 

 Negative impact upon parking in the area and detrimental impact upon 
highway safety. 

 The record of football pitch use on this site is wrongly recorded. 

Page 17

http://beta.folkestone-hythe.gov.uk/lg/dialog.page?org.apache.shale.dialog.DIALOG_NAME=gfplanningsearch&Param=lg.Planning&ref_no=Y18/1617/FH&viewdocs=true
http://beta.folkestone-hythe.gov.uk/lg/dialog.page?org.apache.shale.dialog.DIALOG_NAME=gfplanningsearch&Param=lg.Planning&ref_no=Y18/1617/FH&viewdocs=true
http://beta.folkestone-hythe.gov.uk/lg/dialog.page?org.apache.shale.dialog.DIALOG_NAME=gfplanningsearch&Param=lg.Planning&ref_no=Y18/1617/FH&viewdocs=true


DCL/19/14 
 The facility is being squeezed into a site that is not large enough therefore 

proper landscaping cannot be provided.   

 If more than 2 coaches are required to park where will this be? 

 Highway safety, the entrance to the overflow car park would be opposite 
the proposed cul-de-sac of houses on Folkestone Sports Centre golf 
course. 

 Antisocial behaviour concerns. 

 Pedestrian crossing should be provided on Cherry garden Avenue. 

 Local Sports Strategy document states there is no need in Folkestone. 
 
 Support 
7.3 18 letters/emails received in support raising the following points: 
 

 Folkestone Junior Running Club would benefit from having state of the 
art facilities 

 Travelling to the Julie Rose Stadium on a regular basis is difficult or not 
achievable for some. 

 A facility in Folkestone would be more sustainable, with a positive impact 
upon the environment.   

 Attachments to lighting can make it more directional. 

 The alternative dog walking location is greatly received as this could 
easily have been removed and not replaced. 

 The new dog walking facility will be closer to the existing light so dogs 
could be walked at night unlike the current site. 

 It would make such a difference to the lives of children and young people 
of Folkestone. 

 A running track would benefit the whole community not just athletics.  
Local schools, clubs and general public would benefit. 

 Only town in Kent to not have a track, disadvantage when competing in 
the Kent league. 

 Children in athletics should be supported as it can cross the financial 
divide and does not require parents to buy lots of expensive equipment; 
children can run, jump and throw regardless of their background but when 
they show promise and wish to develop this can only be done on a track. 

 
7.4 Throughout the assessment of this application, a ‘Change.org’ petition has 

been running online to gauge support for the Athletics track. This has 
accumulated circa 745 signatures and is still being frequently shared by 
members of the public, local sporting clubs, athletes and community bodies. 

 
8.0    RELEVANT POLICY GUIDANCE 
 
8.1 The full headings for the policies are attached to the schedule of planning 

matters at Appendix 1. 
  
8.2 The following saved policies of the Shepway District Local Plan Review apply: 

SD1, BE1, BE16, CO11, TR5, TR6, TR11, TR12, LR4 
 
8.3 The following policies of the Shepway Local Plan Core Strategy apply: 
 DSD, SS1, SS3. 
 

Page 18



DCL/19/14 
8.4 The following policies of the Places and Policies Local Plan Submission Draft 

apply: 
 HB1, C3, T2, NE2, NE5, HW3, HE2, CC3 
 
8.5 The following Supplementary Planning Documents apply:  
 Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) June 2018 
 Sports Facility Strategy (SFS) May 2018 
 
8.6 The following paragraphs of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

2018 apply: 
 Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development  
 Section 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities 
 
9.0 APPRAISAL 
 

Relevant Material Planning Considerations 
 

9.1 The main material considerations in the determination of this application are: 
 

a) the need for this facility,  
b) impact of the loss of two grass football pitches,  
c) impacts upon neighbouring amenity,  
d) design and visual appearance,  
e) flood risk,  
f) highways and transportation matters  
g) whether adequate mitigation is proposed to address any adverse 

impacts. 
 

a) Need for the Facility 
 

9.2 The NPPF states that access to a network of high quality open spaces and 
opportunities for sport and physical activity is important for the health and 
wellbeing of communities (paragraph 96). 

 
9.3 Paragraph 8 states that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to 

the achievement of sustainable development and the NPPF sets a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development with three overarching 
objectives, which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually 
supportive ways: 

 
a) Economic objectives – to help build a strong, responsive and competitive 

economy to support growth, innovation and improved productivity; 
 

b) Social objectives – to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities by 
fostering a well-designed and safe built environment with accessible 
services and open spaces that reflect current and future needs and 
support communities’ health, social and cultural well-being; 
 

c) Environmental objectives – to contribute to protecting and enhancing our 
natural, built and historic environment; including making effective use of 
land. 

Page 19



DCL/19/14 
 
9.4 The Council’s Sports Facility Strategy (SFS), assessed the needs and 

opportunities for indoor and outdoor sports facilities and future need for 
provision, driven by increased populations and was required to identify any 
gaps in the existing facilities.  The sports facilities included in this strategy 
include; sports halls, swimming pools, health and fitness facilities, squash 
courts, indoor and outdoor tennis facilities, indoor and outdoor bowls facilities, 
athletics tracks, water sports centres, village and community halls. 

 
9.5 The SFS states that “Population growth of 17.2% in Shepway [now 

Folkestone and Hythe District Council] by 2037 is likely to increase demand 
for athletics track capacity by a similar amount…” (paragraph 11.11).  This 
would be dependent on the level of infrastructure available to existing and 
future athletes and therefore the delivery of this facility will assist in 
maintaining participation levels.  Although the report goes onto state that 
“spare capacity at the existing tracks in Ashford and Canterbury should be 
able to accommodate all additional future demand” (paragraph 11.13.2).  The 
policy position is that there is no need for the Development Plan to make land 
allocations for a new facility when plan making.  The policy does not however 
preclude others bring forward such facilities subject to assessment of the 
impact of such a development.   The conclusions of the SFS are therefore not 
considered to justify a reason for refusal on need grounds. The SFS 
acknowledges that notwithstanding the running club activity in Folkestone & 
Hythe, all use of specialist facilities by district residents is displaced to 
neighbouring areas as there are no facilities available in the District. This 
encourages unsustainable travel.  This displacement is in contradiction to 
paragraph 8 of the NPPF which seeks for accessible services and open 
spaces that reflect current and future needs and support communities’ health, 
social and cultural well-being. 

 
9.6 The Council’s SFS states that athletics is a minority sport. However, contrary 

to this, the Sport England Active People Survey (2016) reports that athletics 
is the second highest participation sport in the country behind swimming. 
There has been a decline in participation but whether this is due to the lack of 
investment in the appropriate facilities is unclear. 

 
9.7 The Council’s Playing Pitch Strategy notes that “the number of sports facilities 

in Folkestone and Hythe District is below the per capita average for Kent and 
Medway for sports halls, swimming pools, tennis courts and athletics tracks.” 
The provision of the athletics track would therefore assist in combating this 
deficit and provide a high quality facility which could be accessed by all across 
the District. 

 
9.8 Many representations in support of the proposal have been received from 

parents whose children attend the Julie Rose Stadium in Ashford but state 
that they are not able to take their children to as many training classes per 
week as their children require to allow them develop further due to the 
travelling distance required.  In addition, a large amount of support has been 
received for this proposed facility with an online petition which has received 
in excess of 750 signatures in support of the proposal. 

 

Page 20



DCL/19/14 
9.9 Whilst the District may be within a 30 minutes’ drive time catchment of the 

nearest facilities, the Supporting Statement identifies that when taking into 
account the use of public transport, journey times increase significantly, with 
the shortest journey time recorded from Hawkinge Primary School to the 
Canterbury Academy Campus at 55 minutes.  In most cases, these commutes 
require walking distances in excess of a mile which would be considered 
inappropriate, particularly for the younger age group of users. 

 
9.10 In addition, there is also the consideration of costs required for bus and rail 

fares which could be considered too expensive for many users, particularly 
from the more deprived areas of Folkestone.  The Government’s 2015 Indices 
of Multiple Deprivation ranks Folkestone and Hythe 113th out of 326 English 
Local Authorities in terms of overall deprivation.  This overall rating hides 
some local inequalities.  Folkestone Harbour and Folkestone Harvey Central 
are ranked in the poorest 2% Lower Super Output Areas (LSOA) in the 
country. It is therefore considered appropriate that such facilities are made 
readily available and accessible at affordable prices so that the entire District 
can benefit from local sporting facilities. 

 
9.10 The intention of the facility at the Three Hills Sports Park is to provide a high 

quality facility which is accessible to everyone within the District. This is in 
addition to the site being extremely accessible and within walking distance of 
a range of transport modes. 

 
9.12 The provision of the new athletics track will assist in enhancing the value of 

The Three Hills Sports Park as a multi-sport hub which is already a centre of 
excellence for hockey and cricket, as well as a range of other sports.  The 
proposed facility would provide a high quality community facility which is 
easily accessible to those within the District and further afield.  Ultimately, the 
proposal would provide more opportunities for the District to take part in sport 
and physical activity endorsed by paragraph 8 and 96 of the NPPF. 

 
(b) Loss of Football Pitches 
 

9.13 The Council’s Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) was renewed and published in 
June 2018.  The aim of the PPS is to undertake an assessment of playing 
pitches and the future need for provision, driven by increased population and 
to identify any gaps in the existing network of provision.  Although the PPS 
provides a record of what football clubs are using what football pitches, the 
document only serves as a snap-shot in time and the situation in June 2018 
would not necessarily be the same situation a year later. 

 
9.14 Sport England was consulted on this application and they subsequently 

consulted with the relevant National Governing Bodies (NGBs) which included 
the Kent FA and Football Foundation who confirmed that they understood that 
the two grass pitches shown    to be removed were still being used by; 
Folkestone Invicta Youth, Dynamo FC, Cheriton United Football Club and 
Folkestone Invicta Disability teams.  Sport England therefore objected to the 
application initially on the basis that the loss of the two grass pitches would 
have a negative impact and would not accord with any of the exceptions to 
Sport England’s Playing Fields Policy or paragraph 97 of the NPPF. 

Page 21



DCL/19/14 
 
9.15 As part of the application, the applicant has engaged with these clubs to 

understand their up-to-date position and seek alternative provision where 
needed and a Supporting Statement has been submitted summarising the 
current situation. 

 
9.16 Invicta Disability confirmed that they do not have any 11-a-side teams and 

their 9-a-side teams currently play on the 3G pitch at Three Hills Sports Park, 
therefore there is no displacement from the loss of the two grass pitches to 
this team. 

 
9.17 Dynamo United currently utilise North Road, Shorncliffe as their home ground. 

The club has since confirmed that in the event of a clash booking at North 
Road, they can utilise The Stadium, Church Road as an alternative. There is 
therefore no displacement to this team. 

 
9.18 Cheriton United Football Club is an under 13s club which require the use of a 

9-a-side pitch.  The club have confirmed that there is no displacement from 
any of their teams and have advised that they only use the pitches in question 
if their home ground has become unavailable due to vandalism. 

 
9.19 However, Folkestone Invicta Youth teams do actively use these two 11v11 

grass pitches for their 21 youth teams (mixed sex teams for U13s-U16s and 
U18s Girls who compete in the Kent Girls and Ladies Football League).  
Folkestone Invicta Youth state that between April and August the grassed land 
is also used by multiple clubs for summer training as this is Council land for 
public use.  These two pitches are located within Flood Zone 3 and therefore 
have a high probability of flooding and as a result, the pitches frequently 
become waterlogged, particularly during heavy rainfall.  Bookings for these 
two pitches between 2017/2018 totalled 56 and in 2018/2019 totalled 32 which 
demonstrates that recent use of the site is generally low level in nature.  In 
addition to this, the existing pitches do not benefit from artificial lighting which 
limits their use, particularly in the winter months where hours of daylight are 
considerably reduced.  Notwithstanding the above, these grass pitches are 
being used by Folkestone Invicta Youth teams. 

 
9.20 Normally the justification of the running track would meet Sport England policy 

exception E5 which states: 
 

‘The proposed development is for an indoor or outdoor sports facility, the 
provision of which would be of sufficient benefit to the development of 
sport as to outweigh the detriment caused by the loss of the playing field 
or playing fields’. 

 
9.21 However, the loss of two grass pitches, which would displace a team with 

nowhere to go, made policy E5 difficult to balance and therefore resulted in 
Sport England’s formal objection.  Following this objection the applicant has 
explored the issue further and discussed with Sport England, to understand 
the issue and explore whether other locations exist that Invicta Youth could 
utilise to provide alternative pitch provision.   

 

Page 22



DCL/19/14 
9.22 Following discussions with Sport England the applicant has proposed a 

mitigation solution. This would see the Morehall Recreation Ground, 0.2 miles 
from the current football pitches to the rear of Three Hills being utilised.  This 
site contains 2 kick around areas and was not included in the Playing Pitch 
Strategy as being used by the community and therefore was not counted in 
the overall supply figures.  The site requires some work to bring the two grass 
pitches back into use and make them suitable for league games together with 
the addition of 1-2 WCs.This would be in line with the FA’s emerging strategy, 
in that they require no more than 1-2 WCs in order to provide for recreation 
football in a recreational ground.  The applicants have agreed to undertake 
this work and this can be secured by a Grampian style condition.  The main 
changing rooms at Three Hills would still be available for use and to host pre 
and post-match functions there.  Sport England has acknowledged this 
proposal and is supportive of that as it would meet health and wellbeing 
targets and would meet Sport England’s policy exception E4 which states:  

 
 ‘The playing field or playing fields, which would be lost as a result of the 
proposed development, would be replaced by a playing field or playing 
fields of an equivalent or better quality and of equivalent or greater 
quantity, in a suitable location and subject to equivalent or better 
management arrangements, prior to the commencement of 
development’. 

 
9.23 Therefore, although there would be the displacement of Folkestone Invicta 

Youth, the improvement of the site at Morehall Recreation Ground as an 
alternative would mitigate against this by maintaining the level of adult pitches 
across the district.  The delivery of two grass pitches would be conditioned to 
be provided prior to the removal of the two grass pitches at Three Hills if the 
application is granted planning permission.  Sport England has therefore 
withdrawn their objection and now support the proposal. 

 
9.24 The proposal is now considered to comply with sections b) and c) of paragraph 

97 of the NPPF which states that existing playing fields should not be built on 
unless: 

 
a) An assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open 

space, buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or 
b) The loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by 

equivalent or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable 
location; or 

c) The development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the 
benefits of which clearly outweigh the loss of the current or former use. 

 
9.25 The site is allocated in emerging policy C3 of the Places and Policies Local 

Plan as defined open space and this policy states that “Development 
proposals that would result in the loss of open spaces will be granted provided 
that: the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the 
needs for which clearly outweigh the loss”.  Not only would this proposal 
provide alternative sports and recreational provision, the loss of the two grass 
pitches to facilitate the running track can be mitigated by alternative provision 
at Morehall Recreation Ground.  The proposal is therefore considered to be 

Page 23



DCL/19/14 
compliant with paragraph 97 of the NPPF and emerging policy C3 of the 
Places and Policies Local Plan. 

 
 (c) Neighbouring Amenity 
 Light pollution 
9.26 The non-technical lighting summary submitted with the application, which is 

supported by a plan plotting the light spill areas, confirms that harm from the 
lighting would not occur given the presence of the location of the light 
columns, light shields and hours of operation. 

 
9.27 The Environmental Health Manager has raised no objection in respect of harm 

to residential amenity through light pollution.  Therefore, subject to a condition 
securing the details of the lights and hours of operation Environmental Health 
are satisfied that the lights would not result in harm to residential amenity. 
These times are considered to be acceptable and would be conditioned: 

 

 Monday – Friday: 9am – 9pm 

 Saturday – Sunday: 9am – 9pm 

 One off events, anticipated to be 3 events max per year unless consent 
granted from FHDC. 

 
9.28 In terms of lighting, rear louvres are also proposed to reduce the light spillage 

to neighbouring properties.  The statement also states that there is potential 
to add dimmable switches to the lighting to reduce the level which may reduce 
the lighting and light spillage during training sessions, details of these could 
be conditioned. 

 
9.29 The report states that if only the running track is in use, then only the lights 

required to light the track will be turned on and not the lights to the inner field, 
reducing the lights from 42 to 28 lights.  The lighting will be turned off 
automatically at 9:15pm to allow for clearing of equipment and vacation of the 
site.  If both the inner field and running track are in use then the inner lights 
will be turned off automatically at 9pm with the running track lights remaining 
on until 9:15pm, again to allow for clearing of equipment and vacation of the 
site.  In both scenarios, if the site is vacated earlier than 9pm the lighting will 
be turned off when it is last used to reduce the impact to neighbours. 

 
9.31 The Council’s Environmental Health officer raises no objections to the 

proposal on the basis that the non-technical lighting summary is conditioned 
to ensure the lights are operated in the way that is stated in this report.   

 
 Noise 
9.32 In response to residents’ concerns officers have sought the provision of hedge 

planting to the rear elevation of the pavilion building to prevent footballs being 
kicked against the rear elevation.  The aim being to reduce even further the 
limited noise and disturbance to residents this could cause when the facility 
is not in use. 

 
9.33 The report also states that the portable PA system would be used for sporting 

events only and not for commentaries at those sporting events or on training 
nights. Clarity has been sought with the agent regarding this and it has been 

Page 24



DCL/19/14 
clarified that the PA system would be used for sporting events only, for the 
starting of track events, calling of teams or individual races and results and 
would not be used for training nights.  This would help to mitigate the impact 
to neighbouring residents.  There is anticipated to be a maximum of 3 events 
a year, therefore the majority of use would be for training purposes without 
the need for the PA system, thereby reducing the impact upon neighbouring 
amenity. 

 
9.34 During the processing of the application, further tree planting has been 

negotiated to be planted along the north boundary to extend the tree line in 
front of Nos. 4 and 5 Martha Close and Nos. 11 and 13 Lucy Avenue, to form 
natural screening.  Thereby reducing the impact to these neighbouring 
residents. 

 
9.35 The proposed relocation of the dog exercise area is considered to be 

acceptable and no more disruptive to neighbouring amenity than the existing 
use of sports facility. 

 
9.36 It is accepted that the proposed athletics facility would have some impact 

upon the immediate neighbouring residents due to the change in use of the 
land, from the quiet nature of the existing dog walking facility. However, it is 
considered that the mitigation and proposed controls set out above and the 
changes to the design of the pavilion set out below would mitigate this impact 
to an acceptable level.  Having regard to the above, it is considered that the 
impacts on residential amenity are acceptable and would accord with 
paragraph 180 pf the NPPF which seeks to mitigate and reduce to a minimum 
potential adverse impacts resulting from noise from new development and 
limit the impact of light pollution from artificial light on local amenity.  

 
(d) Design and Visual Appearance 

9.37 Emerging policy HB1 of the places and policies local plan seeks for 
development to create, enhance and integrate areas of public open space and 
which does not lead to an adverse impact on the amenity of future occupiers, 
neighbours or the surrounding area.  The policy further seeks developments 
to incorporate high quality hard and soft landscaping, boundary treatments 
and public open spaces. 

 
9.38 The pavilion design has been amended during the course of the application 

from having a painted steel finish to being finished with diagonal larch timber 
cladding, to tie the development to the existing Three Hills buildings and 
soften/ameliorate the buildings into the site.  The further hedge planting 
secured by officers would ‘break-up’ the appearance of the rear elevation 
further.  A matching diagonal larch fence between the two containers is also 
proposed to visually join the two containers together to create a holistic 
appearance.  Following the amendments secured by officers it is considered 
that the proposed pavilion would be result in a high quality form of 
development that would not result in visual harm to the area. 

 
9.39 The track and associated facilities are functional and are considered 

appropriate to the location visually.  Overall the changes are low level and 

Page 25



DCL/19/14 
would not result in a visually harmful development.  Especially given the 
existing context which is in sport provision. 

 
9.40 The existing trees are around the edges of the site along the northern bank 

line with 5 trees needing to be removed to facilitate the levelling of the running 
track.  However, 11 new Acer Maple trees are proposed along the north 
boundary and the planting of these would be conditioned. 

 
 (e) Highway Safety 
9.41 A total of 43 car parking spaces are proposed for day to day use by the 

stadium which far exceeds the required number of parking spaces required 
under SPG4: Kent Parking Standards, of which the requirement is 1 space 
per 10 seats.  123 overspill parking spaces are provided for competitions in 
the summer when teams from local athletic clubs will come to compete at the 
running track.  There is no set standard for these events but the number of 
parking spaces provided is similar to the next nearest athletics stadium, which 
is the Julie Rose Stadium in Ashford.  Kent Highways raise no objection and 
as such, the level of parking is considered unlikely to result in unacceptable 
levels of on-street parking. 
 

9.42 The proposed access provides more than adequate visibility splays for the 
30mph speed limit on Cornwallis Avenue and is considered to be acceptable. 

 
9.43  The proposal meets the required standards and Kent Highways and 

Transportation has no objection subject to conditions safeguarding, parking, 
and sightlines. 

 
9.44 In light of the above it is considered that the site provides adequate parking 

provision and a safe means of entering and exiting the site.  As a result it is 
considered that the development would not result in harm to high way safety.  

 
 (f) Flooding 
9.45 The site is within flood zone 3 and is therefore at risk from fluvial flooding.  

The proposed development is classed as a ‘less vulnerable use’ as per the 
Environment Agency standing advice, which states that development is 
appropriate but the sequential test must be applied.  The Sequential Test 
ensures that a sequential approach is followed to steer new development to 
areas with the lowest probability of flooding. 

 
9.46 The Council is not aware of any other alternative sites where this athletics 

facility could be located and discussions have taken place with Sport England 
during the process of the application and no alternative location has been 
suggested at that time.  Notwithstanding this, it would not be pragmatic to 
suggest locating the athletics track elsewhere as it relates to the existing 
Three Hills Sports facility and the proposal would enhance and extend these 
existing facilities.  A pragmatic approach has therefore been taken.  
Therefore, the assessment then turns to where within the application site are 
the areas with the lowest flood risk.  In terms of locating the track elsewhere 
on the Three Hills site, although there are areas at less risk of flooding within 
the Three Hills site, there is no other location that could accommodate the 
running track and pavilion due to other more extensive sports facilities being 

Page 26



DCL/19/14 
in position.  Therefore, it is considered that sequentially there are no other 
suitable sites that could accommodate the athletics facility and that this is the 
best location within the site. 

 
9.47 In terms of surface water flooding, the running track would natural increase 

run-off rates more than the current green field site however, this would be 
mitigated by surface water drainage to avoid localised flooding which is 
proposed to be secured by condition.  Any increase in surface water flooding 
would not cause harm to life, given the higher position of the neighbouring 
dwellings or function of the area as a sport facility. 

 
 (g) Other Issues 
9.48 To improve connectivity across the site and to aid local walkers, signage is 

proposed to direct dog walkers to the new location and these would be 
secured by condition. 

 
 Environmental Impact Assessment 
9.49 In accordance with the EIA Regulations 2017, this development has been 

considered in light of Schedules 1& 2 of the Regulations and it is not 
considered to fall within either category and as such does not require 
screening for likely significant environmental effects.  

 
Local Finance Considerations  

9.50 Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 
provides that a local planning authority must have regard to a local finance 
consideration as far as it is material. Section 70(4) of the Act defines a local 
finance consideration as a grant or other financial assistance that has been, 
that will, or that could be provided to a relevant authority by a Minister of the 
Crown (such as New Homes Bonus payments), or sums that a relevant 
authority has received, or will or could receive, in payment of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy.  

 
 Human Rights 
9.51 In reaching a decision on a planning application the European Convention on 

Human Rights must be considered. The Convention Rights that are relevant 
are Article 8 and Article 1 of the first protocol. The proposed course of action 
is in accordance with domestic law. As the rights in these two articles are 
qualified, the Council needs to balance the rights of the individual against the 
interests of society and must be satisfied that any interference with an 
individual’s rights is no more than necessary. Having regard to the previous 
paragraphs of this report, it is not considered that there is any infringement of 
the relevant Convention rights. 

Public Sector Equality Duty 
9.52 In determining this application, regard has been had to the Public Sector 

Equality Duty (PSED) as set down in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, in 
particular with regard to the need to: 

- Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that 
is prohibited by or under the Act;  

- Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and  

Page 27



DCL/19/14 
- Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it. It is considered that the 
application proposals would not undermine objectives of the Duty. 

 
It is considered that the application proposals would not conflict with 
objectives of the Duty. 

 
9.53 This application is reported to Committee due to the Council having a 

substantial interest in the application and that the application site is on Council 
owned land. 

 
10.0 BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
10.1 The consultation responses set out at Section 5.0 and any representations at 

Section 7.0 are background documents for the purposes of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended). 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION – That planning permission be granted subject to the 
following conditions and that delegated authority be given to the Chief 
Planning Officer to agree and finalise the wording of the conditions and add 
any other conditions that he considers necessary: 

 
1. Standard time condition  
2. Approved plan numbers 
3. Materials 
4. Vehicle and cycling parking 
5. Sight lines 
6. Hours of use 
7. Light dimmers 
8. Lighting report conditioned 
9. Details of lighting columns, fixtures and light baffles. 
10. Hard and soft landscaping details and planting timeframe, including 

additional hedge planting 
11. Tree protection measures 
12. Boundary fencing details (dog walking facility and running track) 
13. Provision of two grass pitches and WCs at Morehall Recreation Ground 
14. Development to be carried out in accordance with site levelling cross 

sections 
15. Pre-commencement and post-completion surveys of the culvert 
16. Sustainable surface water drainage scheme  
17. Verification report 
18. Ecological method statement 
19. Lighting design strategy 

 
 

Page 28



 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



  DC/19/15 
Application No: Y18/0984/FH  
   
Location of Site: Running Waters Lydd Road New Romney Romney 

Marsh Kent TN29 9SE 
 
Development: Change of use from an existing touring and camping       

caravan park to use for ten mobile chalets and twenty 
tourers (part of the site previously approved under 
application Y09/0456/SH). 

 
Applicant: Miss Racheal Philips 

 
Agent: Mr James Smith 

Drawing Services Ltd 
Hydene 
Barrack Hill 
Hythe 
 

Date Valid: 22.08.2018  
 
Expiry Date: 08.01.18  
 
PEA Date:    N/A 
 
Date of Committee:  24.09.19 
 
Officer Contact:    Louise Daniels 
 
SUMMARY   
 
The application is for a change of use from a touring and camping site to use for 
ten static mobile chalets and twenty tourers.  Whilst the potential benefits to an 
existing rural tourism business have been given appropriate weight, the proposed 
development would cause significant visual harm within the countryside and a Local 
Landscape Area.  In additionthe potential flood risk associated with the proposed 
development has not been appropriately addressed within the application 
submission. On balance, the proposed development is considered to be contrary to 
policies TM4, TM5, CO1, CO5 and CSD4, and the NPPF.  As such the application 
is recommended for refusal on these grounds. 
 

RECOMMENDATION:  That planning permission be refused for the reasons 
set out at the end of the report. 

  
 
1.0 THE PROPOSAL 
 

1.1 This application seeks planning permission for the change of use from an 
existing touring and camping caravan park to use for ten chalets and twenty 
tourers. This part of the site was previously granted planning permission under 
application Y09/0456/SH for use as 40 touring / camping pitches. It is not 
confirmed within the application submission, in detail, how the chalets and 
tourer spaces would be occupied, in terms of months of the year or maximum 
periods of occupancy. The submitted proposed site plan is annotated with ’11 

Page 31

Agenda Item 5



  DC/19/15 
months use/year’. A brochure of chalet building specifications has been 
submitted. This brochure includes three designs- ‘Rivendale’ (3 proposed), 
‘Glendale’ (4 proposed) and ‘Arrondale’ (3 proposed). 
 

 

 
2.0 SITE DESIGNATIONS 
 
2.1 The following apply to the site:  
 

 Outside the settlement boundary 

 Flood zone 3 

 Moderate risk of flooding in 2115 on the Council’s SFRA 

 Local Landscape Area 

 Area of archaeological potential 
 
3.0 LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION OF SITE 

 
3.1 The site is adjacent to and part of the Running Waters site, a large detached 

house in spacious grounds which has a tourism use with log cabin 
accommodation on the site.  

 
3.2 The area has an aesthetically pleasing rural character and appearance. The 

site is well screened to the south and east by tall trees and hedgerows with 
the Wallingham Sewer water course present upon the east boundary. 
Agricultural land expands out to the west and north. The existing gated 
vehicular access to this part of the site is at its southern end, from an access 
road which leads from the A259. The wider site has a main access from the 
A259 which leads up to the main house, and a secondary access from 
Spitalfield Lane. 

 
 

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY    
 

Y17/1278/SH: Change of use from an existing touring and camping caravan 
park to use for ten static caravans and twenty tourers (part of 
the site previously approved under application Y09/0456/SH). 
Refused. At the time of the previous application ref. 
Y17/1278/SH it was stated that the ten static caravans would 
have been available for holiday lets for eleven months of the 
year, and twenty tourers would have been parked on the site 
for up to 6 months of the year. 

 
Y09/0456/SH: Change of use of the land for a touring and camping site 

together with erection of a single storey building. Approved 
with conditions.  

  
This permission was conditioned to ensure the camp site is 
only used between the periods of the 1st May to 1st September 
in each year, with no individual tent or caravan to remain on 

Page 32



  DC/19/15 
the site for more than 28 consecutive nights and when the site 
is closed all tents and caravans are to be removed.  
 

Y06/1267/SH:  Construction of a new access road to serve log cabins 
approved under Y00/1224/SH (re-submission of 
Y06/0933/SH). Approved with conditions.  

 
Y06/0933/SH:  Construction of a new access road to serve log cabins 

approved under Y00/1224/SH. Refused. 
 
5.0 CONSULTATION RESPONSES  
 
5.1 Consultation responses are available in full on the planning file. The main 

points raised are summarised below. 
 
5.2 New Romney Town Council 

Object and recommend refusal- contravenes policies TM4, TM5 and CO5. 
 
5.3 Environment Agency: 

No objection provided that conditions are applied to secure: 
 

 All finished floor levels no lower than 1 metre above the existing site ground 
level. 

 No tourers or mobile homes to be located within 8 metres of the bank top of 
the Wallingham main sewer. 

 That the site must not be for permanent residential use. 
 
6.0 PUBLICITY 
 
6.1 Neighbours notified by letter. Expiry date 12.10.18 
 
6.2 Site notice displayed. Expiry date 26.10.18 
 
6.3 Advertised in press. Expiry date 25.10.18 
 
7.0 REPRESENTATIONS 
 

7.1 None received 
 
8.0 RELEVANT POLICY GUIDANCE 
 
8.1 The full headings for the policies are attached to the schedule of planning 

matters at Appendix 1. 
  
8.2 The following saved policies of the Shepway District Local Plan Review apply: 

SD1, HO1, BE1, U1, CO1, CO5, TM4, TM5 
 
8.3 The following policies of the Shepway Local Plan Core Strategy apply: DSD, 

SS1, SS3, CSD3, CSD4 
 

Page 33



  DC/19/15 
8.4 The Submission draft of the PPLP (February 2018) was published under 

Regulation 19 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations (2012) for public consultation between February and March 
2018. The Plan was submitted to the Secretary of State for independent 
examination in September 2018. Accordingly, it is a material consideration in 
the assessment of planning applications in accordance with the NPPF, which 
confirms that weight may be given to policies in emerging plans following 
publication (paragraph 48). Based on the current stage of preparation, and 
given the relative age of the saved policies within the Shepway Local Plan 
Review (2006), the policies within the Submission Draft Places and Policies 
Local Plan (2018) may be afforded weight where there has not been 
significant objection.   

 
 The following policies of the Places and Policies Local Plan (PPLP) 

Submission Draft apply: HB1, E5, T2, NE3, NE5, HE2 

 
8.5  The Submission draft of the Core Strategy Review was published under 

Regulation 19 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations (2012) for public consultation between January and March 2019. 
Accordingly, it is a material consideration in the assessment of planning 
applications in accordance with the NPPF, which confirms that weight may be 
given to policies in emerging plans following publication (paragraph 48). 
Based on the current stage of preparation, the policies within the Core 
Strategy Review Submission Draft may be afforded weight where there has 
not been significant objection. 

 
 The following policies of the Core Strategy Review Submission Draft 2019 

apply: SS1, CSD3, CSD4 
 
8.6 The following paragraphs of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 

apply in particular: Paragraphs 12, 83, 84, 108-111, 124, 127, 148, 155, 157-
164, 170, 175, 180. 
 

8.7 The following paragraphs of the National Planning Policy Guidance 2019 
apply in particular: 

 
Design 
Paragraphs 001, 002, 004, 012, 041 

 
Planning and flood risk 
Paragraphs 001, 002, 003, 018, 019, 029, 030, 031, 032, 033, 034, 050, 051, 
079, 080, 081, 082, 083, 084, 085, 053, 054, 059, 060 

 
Natural environment   
Paragraphs 004, 007, 016, 017, 018, 020 
 

9.0 APPRAISAL 
 
9.1 The main material considerations in the determination of this application are: 
 

a) Principle of Development and Visual Impact 

Page 34



  DC/19/15 
b) Flooding 
c) Economic Development 
d) Neighbouring Amenity 
e) Highways 
f) Biodiversity 
g) Archaeology 
h) Environmental Impact Assessment 
i) Local finance considerations 

 
a) Principle of Development and Visual Impact 

9.2 Paragraph 83 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should enable the 
sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business in rural areas, and 
sustainable rural tourism and leisure developments which respect the 
character of the countryside. Paragraph 170 of the NPPF states that the 
planning system should contribute to and enhance the natural and local 
environment by protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, geological 
conservation interests and soils and minimising impacts on biodiversity. 

 
9.3 Policy SS1 seeks to direct development to existing settlements together with 

policy SS3 to protect the open countryside. Policy CSD3 seeks to protect 
tourism enterprises and uses will be appropriately protected and new 
development allowed within defined settlements in the Settlement Network. 
Where sites are unavailable within settlement boundaries, development 
should be appropriate in scale/impact and in a sustainable location.  

 
9.4 Saved policy CO1 states that the District Planning Authority will protect the 

countryside for its own sake and only permitted where proposals meet a set 
of criteria set out in CO1. Saved policy TM4 prevents the establishment of 
new static caravans or chalet sites. Policy TM5 states that proposals for new 
or upgraded touring caravan and camping sites will be permitted subject to 
criteria.  

 
9.5 The existing site is undeveloped, with only a small washing facilities building 

and an access road in situ. Touring caravans and tent pitches are transient 
features rather than permanent buildings which would have a greater impact 
upon the character of the site and the surrounding countryside. It is considered 
that the proposed chalets, due to their location, number, appearance and 
permanency would alter the undeveloped character of the site and have a 
harmful impact upon the landscape character of the surrounding area. As such 
the proposal would fail policy C01. 

 
9.6 All of the proposed chalet designs are of basic chalet style, which are of typical 

form and do not represent a high standard of design. The chalets would be 
raised a metre off the ground supported by jacks upon a concrete base. As 
single storey structures with shallow pitched roofs they are of a single storey 
nature but would still have a significant impact upon the character of the site 
and the surrounding landscape. The submitted brochure shows the three 
chalet designs finished in white, grey and wood effect cladding. The roofs are 
proposed as Metrotile metal finish (colour unconfirmed). The proposed chalets 
would be of prominence when viewed from the open land to the west and 
north of the site. As such the chalets would not be sympathetic in scale and 

Page 35



  DC/19/15 
appearance to their setting. It is also considered that the proposal would 
conflict with policy TM5 (a) in this respect too. 

 
9.7 With regard to saved policy TM5, it is considered that the proposed 

development and change of use fails to comply with criteria a) of this policy 
which states that proposals should not harm the character and appearance of 
the countryside or coastline or conflict with other countryside and 
environmental protection policies. In addition, criteria c) states that 
development should be situated so as to minimise their effect upon local 
amenity, and should as far as possible, be screened from public roads, open 
spaces or footpaths and where necessary a scheme of landscaping should be 
submitted with the proposal to achieve this.  

 
9.8 No detailed scheme of landscaping has been submitted, with just a hedge line 

indicated to the north of the proposed chalets. The application site is on the 
edge of the settlement with little existing screening around the north eastern 
around to western boundaries. PROW HM121 runs roughly east to west 
approximately 135 metres to the north at the closest point to the site. The flat, 
open landscape typical of the area would allow views into the site, with the 
chalets present as additional permanent form, if permission were to be 
granted. The introduction of ten chalets in an otherwise uninterrupted and 
undeveloped landscape, where clear views of the chalets would be available 
from the open land to the north and west of the site, would be inconsistent 
with the objective of this policy to protect or enhance the landscape character.  

 
9.9 Following on from policy CO1, the site also falls within a Local Landscape 

Area and policy CO5 states that proposals should protect or enhance the 
landscape character and functioning of Local Landscape Areas and that 
development will not be permitted if proposals are inconsistent with this 
objective unless the need to secure economic and social well-being outweighs 
the need to protect the area's local landscape importance. There has been no 
economic argument submitted with the application, nor does the application 
secure social well-being. As such, it is considered that the development 
proposed, which includes the introduction of ten chalets in an otherwise 
uninterrupted and undeveloped landscape, would be inconsistent with the 
objective to protect or enhance the landscape character and functioning of the 
Local Landscape Area. As such, the proposed development fails to comply 
with saved policy CO5 of the Local Plan.  

 
9.10 The proposed development would have a harmful visual impact upon the 

undeveloped countryside character of the site and the surrounding landscape, 
contrary to policy CO1. No exceptional circumstances set out in (i) to (iii) have 
been put forward that would justify the proposals or demonstrate exceptional 
circumstances. 

 
9.11 It is noted that no details of management proposals have been provided, 

however it appears that the operators reside within the existing dwelling at the 
site and would therefore be on site. Details of management measures could 
be secured by planning condition, were the scheme to have been considered 
acceptable in all other regards. 

 

Page 36



  DC/19/15 
9.12 The requirement as set out in TM5 (g) is to ensure the temporary nature of 

caravan and camping sites. The proposed chalets would not comply with this 
restriction as they are proposed as permanent structures. It is acknowledged 
that the proposed touring caravan spaces could be restricted to March-
January and no more than 28 consecutive night’s occupancy by any one party. 
These detailed matters could be resolved through the application of planning 
conditions requiring further details of measures and their implementation, 
were the scheme to have been considered acceptable in all other regards. 

 
9.13 Overall, it is considered that the proposed permanent chalets would have a 

harmful impact upon the undeveloped character of the site, and would harm 
the character of the surrounding area, contrary to policies CO1 and TM5, and 
policies CO5 and CSD4. As the proposal would introduce static/ permanent 
accommodation, it would also fail the criteria of policy TM4 as well. The 
principle of the proposed development and its visual impact is therefore 
unacceptable. 

 
b) Flooding 

9.14 In terms of flood risk, the site is identified as falling within Flood Zone 3, in an 
area benefitting from flood defences, as defined by the Environment Agency. 
Paragraph 163 and footnote 50 of the NPPF require that the application 
proposal be accompanied by a site-specific flood-risk assessment. 
Development should only be allowed in areas at risk of flooding where, it can 
be demonstrated that certain criteria can be met and the sequential and 
exception test passed where applicable. 

 
9.15 In addition, the development proposed requires that a Sequential Test be 

carried out to search for and assess alternative sites of lower flood risk which 
could contain the proposed development. Were it to be demonstrated that the 
proposed development could not be sited in a location of lower flood risk, it 
would then be necessary for the development to comply with the Exception 
Test.  

 
9.16 The only document submitted to address the above requirements is a Flood 

Risk Opinion Report, which identifies the flood risk of the site. No appraisal of 
alternative sites has been submitted, and as such the application fails the 
sequential test. 
 

9.17 It is noted that the Environment Agency do not object to the application subject 
to conditions to secure all finished floor levels no lower than 1 metre above 
the existing site ground level, no tourers or mobile homes to be located within 
8 metres of the bank top of the Wallingham main sewer and that the site must 
not be for permanent residential use. However the EA do not assess the 
sequential test and as such the lack of objection does not mean the application 
is acceptable on these grounds or policy compliant.  

 
9.18 The application submission does not include a Sequential Test, does not 

address the Exception Test, and does not fully address the requirements of 
para 163. In regard to the Exception Test, it is not clear that the development 
would deliver wider sustainability benefits and no sustainability appraisal has 
been submitted. Furthermore, the submission fails to demonstrate that the 

Page 37



  DC/19/15 
scheme would incorporate sustainable drainage methods, and does not 
evidence that such drainage measures would not be appropriate. Overall it is 
considered that the application submission fails to demonstrate that the 
proposed development would not be at an unacceptable risk of flooding, 
contrary to Policy TM4 and the NPPF. 

 

c) Economic Development 
9.19 The proposed development would be located on an existing tourist 

accommodation site and could encourage the rural diversification of a tourism 
enterprise located in a relatively sustainable location on the edge of New 
Romney town, which is defined as a service centre in the Settlement 
Hierarchy. Although the site is accessible by a choice of means of transport 
and would potentially lead to an improvement in the range and quality of tourist 
accommodation in the area, there is not an increase in the level of tourism 
offered on site.  

 
9.20 Indeed, the previous consent was for up to 40 pitches and this is for 10 chalets 

and 20 touring, occupied for up to 11 months per year - a reduction in overall 
numbers. Consequently, there is likely to be no significant difference, possibly 
a reduction in economic benefit, although a neutral benefit has been assumed. 
No justification has been submitted to suggest that there would be any 
significant benefits accrued, and as such this cannot be used to override the 
concerns identified  
 
d) Neighbouring Amenity 

9.21 The NPPF requires that existing and future occupiers benefit from a high 
standard of amenity; developments which would cause significant harm to 
neighbouring amenity are not therefore supported. It is considered the site is 
positioned a sufficient distance away from neighbouring dwellings to not have 
a negative impact in terms of loss of privacy or negative noise impacts. A 
representation was received objecting to the application in relation to 
increased use of the access road into the site from Spitalfield Lane however, 
the access for this application site is from Cobbhouse Lane, away from 
residential properties, and therefore there are not considered to be any 
detrimental neighbouring amenity impacts as a result of the development.  
 
e) Highways 

9.22 The application site is not ideally located in sustainable transport terms, but is 
within walking distance of New Romney and the amenities and public 
transport links available. The access into the site is existing, and as such, 
there is not considered to be a likely detrimental impact upon highway safety. 
The previously approved scheme proposed 40 pitches on this area of the site, 
the proposed scheme of 10 chalets and 20 touring spaces, for 11 months of 
the year, could therefore result in a reduced transport impact in comparison to 
the previous scheme. Policy TR12 requires that development provides 
adequate parking provision. The proposed site layout does not confirm the 
location of parking spaces for the proposed chalets, it appears most likely that 
parking would be provided alongside each chalet and full details of a parking 
layout could be secured by planning condition. 

 
f) Biodiversity 

Page 38



  DC/19/15 
9.23 The proposed erection of ten chalets and formation of concrete bases would 

have some harmful impact in biodiversity terms. The application site is 
grassed with no significant areas of planting or scrub. It does not therefore 
appear that protected species would be harmed, however therefore it is 
considered that the harm could be mitigated through the securing of 
landscaping measures / biodiversity improvement measures were the scheme 
to have been considered acceptable in all other regards. 

 
g) Archaeology 

9.24 The site is within an area of identified archaeological potential. The KCC 
Archaeologist has not commented upon the application. The proposed chalets 
would require shallow excavation to form the proposed concrete bases. It is 
considered that this matter could be addressed through a watching brief 
secured by planning condition were the scheme to have been considered 
acceptable in all other regards. 
 
h) Environmental Impact Assessment 

9.25 In accordance with the EIA Regulations 2017, this development has been 
considered in light of Schedules 1& 2 of the Regulations and it is not 
considered to fall within either category and as such does not require 
screening for likely significant environmental effects.  

 
i) Local finance considerations 

9.26 Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 
provides that a local planning authority must have regard to a local finance 
consideration as far as it is material. Section 70(4) of the Act defines a local 
finance consideration as a grant or other financial assistance that has been, 
that will, or that could be provided to a relevant authority by a Minister of the 
Crown (such as New Homes Bonus payments), or sums that a relevant 
authority has received, or will or could receive, in payment of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy.  
 

9.27 In accordance with policy SS5 of the Core Strategy Local Plan the Council 
has introduced a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) scheme, which in part 
replaces planning obligations for infrastructure improvements in the area. The 
CIL rate for residential development in the area is £0. 
 
HUMAN RIGHTS 

9.28 I have also taken into account the human rights issues relevant to this 
application.  In my view, the Assessment section above and the 
Recommendation represents an appropriate balance between the interests 
and rights of the applicant (to enjoy his land subject only to reasonable and 
proportionate controls by a public authority) [and the interests and rights of 
those potentially affected by the proposal (to respect for private life and the 
home and peaceful enjoyment of their properties)] and the wider public 
interest. 
 
PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY 

9.29 In determining this application, regard has been had to the Public Sector 
Equality Duty (PSED) as set down in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, in 
particular with regard to the need to: 

Page 39



  DC/19/15 
- Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other 

conduct that is prohibited by or under the Act;  
- Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 

protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and  
- Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it. It is considered that the 
application proposals would not undermine objectives of the Duty. 

 
It is considered that the application proposals would not conflict with objectives 
of the Duty. 
  

9.30 This application is reported to Committee at the request of Cllr Wimble. 

 

10.0 BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
10.1 The consultation responses set out at Section 4.0 and any representations at 

Section 7.0 are background documents for the purposes of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended). 

 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION – That planning permission be refused subject to the 
following conditions/for the following reason(s): 

 
Reason(s) for Refusal.   
 
1. The proposed construction of ten permanent chalet buildings, by virtue of their 
size, siting, appearance, form and prominent location, would introduce an intrusive 
and permanent type of development into an otherwise undeveloped landscape, 
which would harm the special visual character and appearance of the countryside 
and the Local Landscape Area. The proposal is therefore contrary to the aims and 
objectives of the NPPF, saved policies BE1, TM4, TM5, CO1 and CO5 of the 
adopted Shepway Local Plan First Review, emerging policies SS3 and CSD3 of the 
adopted Core Strategy, draft policies SS3 and CSD3 of the emerging Core Strategy 
Review Submission Draft and draft policies HB1, NE3 and E5 of the emerging 
Places and Policies Local Plan Submission Draft. These seek to protect or enhance 
the character of the countryside which should be protected for its own intrinsic 
value, and the character and appearance of Local Landscape Areas. 
 
2. The development would be sited within Flood Zone 3 and the application 
submission fails to address the Sequential Test, the Exception Test and the 
requirements of paragraph 163 of the NPPF. The application therefore fails to 
demonstrate that the proposal would not result in an unacceptable flood risk, 
contrary to Local Plan Review Policy TM4, emerging Policy CC3, and the NPPF. 
 
 
  
Decision of Committee 

Page 40



  DC/19/15 
 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

LIST OF DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICIES  
 
 

SHEPWAY CORE STRATEGY LOCAL PLAN (2013) &  
SHEPWAY DISTRICT LOCAL PLAN REVIEW (2006) POLICIES 

 

 

Core Strategy (2013) policies 
 
Chapter 2 – Strategic Issues 
 
DSD                         -        Delivering Sustainable Development 
 
Chapter 4 – The Spatial Strategy for Shepway 
 
SS1   -        District Spatial Strategy 
SS2                          -        Housing and the Economy Growth Strategy 
SS3                          -        Place Shaping and Sustainable Settlements Strategy 
SS4                          -        Priority Centres of Activity Strategy 
SS5                          -        District Infrastructure Planning 
SS6                          -        Spatial Strategy for Folkestone Seafront 
SS7                          -        Spatial Strategy for Shorncliffe Garrison, Folkestone 
 
Chapter 5 – Core Strategy Delivery 
 
CSD1                       -        Balanced Neighbourhoods for Shepway 
CSD2                       -        District Residential Needs  
CSD3                       -        Rural and Tourism Development of Shepway 
CSD4                       -      Green Infrastructure of Natural Networks, Open Spaces 

and Recreation 
CSD5                       -       Water and Coastal Environmental Management in 

Shepway 
CSD6                       -        Central Folkestone Strategy 
CSD7                       -        Hythe Strategy 
CSD8                       -        New Romney Strategy 
CSD9                       -        Sellindge Strategy 
 
 

 
Local Plan Review (2006) policies applicable  
 

Chapter 2 – Sustainable Development 
 
SD1  -  Sustainable Development 
 

Page 45



2 

Chapter 3 – Housing 
 
HO1  -  Housing land supply – Relates to allocated sites on the 

Proposals Map and a list of exceptions subject to specified 
criteria. 

HO2  - Land supply requirements 2001-2011. 
HO6  - Criteria for local housing needs in rural areas. 
HO7  - Loss of residential accommodation. 
HO8  - Criteria for sub-division of properties to flats/maisonettes. 
HO9 - Subdivision and parking. 
HO10  - Houses in multiple occupation. 
HO13  - Criteria for special needs annexes. 
HO15  -  Criteria for development of Plain Road, Folkestone. 
 
Chapter 4 – Employment 
 

E1  - Development on established employment sites. 
E2  -  Supply of land for industry, warehousing and offices. 

Allocated sites on the Proposals Map. 
E4  - Loss of land for industrial, warehousing and office 

development. 
E6a - Loss of rural employment uses. 
 
Chapter 5 – Shopping 
 
S3  - Folkestone Town Centre – Primary shopping area as 

defined on the Proposal Map. 
S4  - Folkestone Town Centre – Secondary shopping area as 

defined on the Proposal Map. 
S5  - Local Shopping Area – Hythe. 
S6  - Local Shopping Area – New Romney. 
S7  - Local Shopping Area – Cheriton. 
S8  -  Local centres – last remaining shop or public house. 
 
Chapter 6 – Tourism 
 
TM2  - Loss of visitor accommodation. 
TM4  - Static caravans and chalet sites. 
TM5 - Criteria for provision of new or upgraded caravan and 

camping sites. 
TM7  - Development of the Sands Motel site. 
TM8 - Requirements for recreation/community facilities at 

Princes Parade. 
TM9 - Battle of Britain Museum, Hawkinge 
 

Page 46



3 

Chapter 7 – Leisure and Recreation 
 
LR1  - Loss of indoor recreational facilities. 
LR3  - Formal sport and recreational facilities in the countryside. 
LR4  - Recreational facilities – Cheriton Road Sports 

Ground/Folkestone Sports Centre. 
LR5  - Recreational facilities – Folkestone Racecourse. 
LR7  - Improved sea access at Range Road and other suitable 

coastal locations. 
LR8  - Provision of new and protection of existing rights of way. 
LR9  - Open space protection and provision. 
LR10  - Provision of childrens’ play space in developments. 
LR11  - Protection of allotments and criteria for allowing their 

redevelopment. 
LR12  - Protection of school playing fields and criteria for allowing 

their redevelopment. 
 
Chapter 8 – Built Environment 
 
BE1  - Standards expected for new development in terms of 

layout, design, materials etc. 
BE2  - Provision of new public art. 
BE3  - Criteria for considering new conservation areas or 

reviewing existing conservation areas. 
BE4  -  Criteria for considering development within conservation 

areas. 
BE5  - Control of works to listed buildings. 
BE6  - Safeguarding character of groups of historic buildings. 
BE8  - Criteria for alterations and extensions to existing buildings. 
BE9  - Design considerations for shopfront alterations. 
BE12 - Areas of Special Character. 
BE13  - Protection of urban open space and criteria for allowing 

redevelopment. 
BE14  - Protection of communal gardens as defined on the 

Proposals Map. 
BE16 - Requirement for comprehensive landscaping schemes. 
BE17  - Tree Preservation Orders and criteria for allowing 

protected trees to be removed. 
BE18  - Protection of historic parks and gardens as defined on the 

Proposals Map. 
BE19  - Land instability as defined on the Proposals Map. 
 
  

Page 47



4 

Chapter 9 – Utilities 
 

U1  - Criteria to be considered for development proposals 
relating to sewage and wastewater disposal for four 
dwellings or less, or equivalent. 

U2  - Five dwellings or more or equivalent to be connected to 
mains drainage. 

U3  - Criteria for use of septic or settlement tanks. 
U4  - Protection of ground and surface water resources. 
U10  - Waste recycling and storage within development. 
U10a  - Requirements for development on contaminated land. 
U11  - Criteria for the assessment of satellite dishes and other 

domestic telecommunications development. 
U13 - Criteria for the assessment of overhead power lines or 

cables. 
U14  - Criteria for assessment of developments which encourage 

use of renewable sources of energy. 
U15  - Criteria to control outdoor light pollution. 
 
Chapter 10 – Social and Community Facilities 
 
SC4  - Safeguarding land at Hawkinge, as identified on the 

Proposal Map, for a secondary school. 
SC7  - Criteria for development of Seapoint Centre relating to a 

community facility. 
 
Chapter 11 – Transport 
 

TR2  - Provision for buses in major developments. 
TR3  - Protection of Lydd Station. 
TR4  - Safeguarding of land at Folkestone West Station and East 

Station Goods Yard in connection with high speed rail 
services. 

TR5  - Provision of facilities for cycling in new developments and 
contributions towards cycle routes. 

TR6  - Provision for pedestrians in new developments. 
TR8  - Provision of environmental improvements along the A259. 
TR9  - Criteria for the provision of roadside service facilities. 
TR10  - Restriction on further motorway service areas adjacent to 

the M20. 
TR11  - Accesses onto highway network. 
TR12  - Vehicle parking standards. 
TR13   -  Travel plans. 
TR14   - Folkestone Town Centre Parking Strategy. 
TR15 - Criteria for expansion of Lydd Airport. 
 

Page 48



5 

Chapter 12 – Countryside 
 
CO1  - Countryside to be protected for its own sake. 
CO4  - Special Landscape Areas and their protection. 
CO5  - Protection of Local Landscape Areas. 
CO6  - Protection of the Heritage Coast and the undeveloped 

coastline. 
CO11  - Protection of protected species and their habitat. 
CO13  - Protection of the freshwater environment. 
CO14  - Long term protection of physiography, flora and fauna of 

Dungeness. 
CO16  - Criteria for farm diversification. 
CO18  - Criteria for new agricultural buildings. 
CO19  - Criteria for the re-use and adaptation of rural buildings. 
CO20  - Criteria for replacement dwellings in the countryside. 
CO21  - Criteria for extensions and alterations to dwellings in the 

countryside. 
CO22  - Criteria for horse related activities. 
CO23  - Criteria for farm shops. 
CO24  - Strategic landscaping around key development sites. 
CO25  - Protection of village greens and common lands. 
 
Chapter 13 - Folkestone Town Centre 
 
FTC3 - Criteria for the development of the Ingles Manor/Jointon 

Road site, as shown on the Proposals Map. 
FTC9 - Criteria for the development of land adjoining Hotel Burstin 

as shown on the Proposals Map. 
FTC11 - Criteria for the redevelopment of the Stade (East) site, as 

shown on the Proposals Map. 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



FOLKESTONE & HYTHE  DISTRICT COUNCIL 
PLANNING AND LICENSING COMMITTEE –  24 SEPTEMBER 2019 

 
 

Declarations of Lobbying 
 
Members of the Committee are asked to indicate if they have been lobbied, 
and if so, how they have been (i.e. letter, telephone call, etc.) in respect of the 
planning applications below:  
 
Application No:       Type of Lobbying 
 
  .........................  
 
  .........................  
 
  .........................  
 
  .........................  
 
  .........................  
 
  .........................  
 
  .........................  
 
  .........................  
 
 
SIGNED:  ...............................................  
 
 
 
When completed, please return this form to the Committee 
Administrator prior to the meeting. 
 
 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

PLANNING AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

24th SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION TO SCHEDULE OF APPLICATIONS 
 

 
1.  Y18/1617/FH THREE HILLS SPORTS PARK, CHERITON ROAD, 
(Page 7) FOLKESTONE 
  
 Installation of athletic running track and field events sports 

facility, pavilion and associated parking together with the 
relocation of  

 dog walking facility. 
 
Danielle Ingleston, local resident, to speak in support of application 
Cllr Richard Wallace, on behalf of Folkestone Town Council, to speak  
on application 
Guy Hollaway, agent, to speak on application 

 
_______________________________________________________ 

 
 

THE SCHEDULE WILL RESUME IN THE FOLLOWING ORDER: 
 
 

2.  Y18/0984/FH  RUNNING WATERS LYDD ROAD NEW ROMNEY  
(Page 31) ROMNEY MARSH 
 
 Change of use from an existing touring and camping caravan 

park to use for ten mobile chalets and twenty tourers (part of 
the site previously approved under application 
Y09/0456/SH). 

 
 

Page 53

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Y18/1617/FH - Three Hills Sports Park, Cheriton Road, Folkestone
	3 Hills site Plan

	5 Y18/0984/FH - Running Waters, Lydd Road, New Romney, Romney Marsh
	Running Waters OS Plan
	Development Policies 2013 onwards
	Lobbying Form

	6 Supplementary Information

